# **RECEIVED** 01-20-2015

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

### COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### DISTRICT II

Case No. 2014AP2569-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

GARETT T. ELWARD,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Ozaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Sandy A. Williams, Presiding

# BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

DUSTIN C. HASKELL Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1071804

Office of the State Public Defender 735 North Water Street, Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4807 haskelld@opd.wi.gov

###

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Garett Elward committed misdemeanor OWI on July 25, 2013. On January 1, 2014, a new law went into effect, requiring circuit courts to impose a \$200 DNA surcharge for every misdemeanor conviction at sentencing, regardless of whether any DNA was taken or analyzed in the case. Mr. Elward was sentenced on January 14, 2014 and the court imposed the surcharge. Does applying the surcharge in Mr. Elward's case violate the prohibitions against *ex post facto* laws in the state and federal constitutions because the surcharge did not exist at the time of the offense?

The circuit court imposed the surcharge and denied Mr. Elward's postconviction motion to vacate the surcharge.

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

This is a one-judge appeal under Wis. Stat. § 752.31(2)-(3); therefore, a request for publication is prohibited by Wis. Stat. § 809.23(4)(b). Further, Mr. Elward did not move to have this case decided by a three-judge panel under Wis. Stat. § 809.41. However, this Court may want to convert this case to a three-judge panel on its own motion to issue a published opinion addressing whether the mandatory DNA surcharge under Wis. Stat. § 973.046(1r) violates the *ex post facto* law clauses of the state and federal constitution when applied to defendants who committed their offenses before January 1, 2014. This issue arises in nearly every case where the defendant committed the charged offense before January 1, 2014, but is sentenced after that date. No published case has addressed this issue.

Mr. Elward believes that the briefs will adequately address the issues in this case, but welcomes the opportunity

for oral argument should this Court find that counsel's arguments require further discussion.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On July 31, 2013, the State filed a criminal complaint charging Garett Elward with one count of misdemeanor OWI (4th)contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a) 346.65(2)(am)4. (1). The complaint alleged that on July 25, 2013, a Grafton County Police officer stopped Mr. Elward's car after seeing that a headlight on Mr. Elward's car was out. (1:1). During the stop, the officer observed a number of factors leading him to believe that Mr. Elward was intoxicated. (1:2). After Mr. Elward struggled with a number of field sobriety tests, police obtained a warrant for a blood sample. (1:2). Blood testing revealed that Mr. Elward's blood alcohol concentration was 0.168g/100 ml of blood. (5:2).

On January 14, 2014, Mr. Elward pled guilty to one count of OWI (4th), contrary to Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a). (20). The court sentenced him to 11 months in jail and imposed a \$600 fine. (20; App. 101-02). The sentencing court did not explicitly order Mr. Elward to pay a DNA surcharge, but the court told him that he would be required to pay a total of \$1644 in connection with this offense. (43:20). A subsequently issued judgment of conviction indicated that Mr. Elward was required to pay a \$200 DNA surcharge. (20; App. 101).

On July 29, 2014, Mr. Elward filed a postconviction motion asking that the court vacate the DNA surcharge. (30). The motion argued that imposing the surcharge in this case violated the *ex post facto* law clauses of the United States and Wisconsin constitutions. (30). On October 1, 2014, the court

entered an order denying the postconviction motion. (33-34; App. 103-04).<sup>1</sup>

#### ARGUMENT

I. The Mandatory \$200 DNA Surcharge Is an Unconstitutional *Ex Post Facto* Law as Applied to the Facts of This Case and Should Be Vacated.

Any statute "which makes more burdensome the punishment for a crime, after its commission . . . is prohibited as *ex post facto*." *Collins v. Youngblood*, 497 U.S. 37, 42 (1990) (quoting *Beazell v. Ohio*, 269 U.S. 167 (1925)) *State v. Thiel*, 188 Wis. 2d 695, 703, 524 N.W.2d 641 (1994); U.S. Const. art. I, § 10; Wis. Const. art. I, § 12. Here, Mr. Elward was convicted of misdemeanor OWI under Wis. Stat. § 346.63(1)(a). On July 25, 2013, when he drove drunk, the court had no authority to impose a DNA surcharge after a misdemeanor conviction. Wis. Stat. § 973.046. At the time, circuit courts were required to impose a \$250 DNA surcharge for certain felony sex offenses, and had discretion to impose the surcharge for any other felony conviction. Wis. Stat. § 973.046(1g)-(1r).<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The court denied the postconviction motion finding that sixty days passed from the date the motion was filed and it was required to deny the motion under Wis. Stat. § 809.30(2)(i). That statute is intended to ensure that a defendant can expedite his appeal and does not affect the merits of his appeal. *State v. Deer*, 125 Wis. 2d 357, 368, 372 N.W.2d 176 (Ct. App. 1985).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> At the time the offense was committed, the relevant portion of section 973.046 read as follows:

<sup>&</sup>quot;(1g) Except as provided in sub. (1r), if a court imposes a sentence or places a person on probation for a felony conviction, the court may impose a deoxyribonucleic acid analysis surcharge of \$250.

<sup>(1</sup>r) If a court imposes a sentence or places a person on probation for a violation of s. 940.225, 948.02 (1) or (2), 948.025, 948.085, the court shall impose a deoxyribonucleic acid analysis surcharge of \$250."

Between the time Mr. Elward was charged and when he pled guilty, the law changed. On January 1, 2014, a new version of section 973.046 went into effect. 2013 Wis. Act 20, §§ 2355, 9326, 9426. The new version required the circuit court to impose a \$250 DNA surcharge for every felony conviction, and a \$200 DNA surcharge for every misdemeanor conviction. Wis. Stat. § 973.046(1r). The act specified that the new surcharge would apply to any sentences imposed on or after January 1, 2014. 2013 Wis. Act 20, §§ 9326, 9426. Mr. Elward was ordered to pay the surcharge. (20). This Court should vacate the surcharge under the state and federal prohibitions against *ex post facto* laws because the surcharge is a criminal penalty that did not exist at the time Mr. Elward committed the offense.

Whether an amended statute violates *ex post facto* is a question of law that this Court reviews de novo. *State v. Haines*, 2003 WI 39, ¶ 7, 261 Wis. 2d 139, 661 N.W.2d 72. The defendant bears the burden of overcoming this Court's presumption that laws are constitutional. *State ex rel. Singh v. Kemper*, 2014 WI App 43, ¶ 9, 353 Wis. 2d 520, 846 N.W.2d 820. Wisconsin courts generally construe the *ex post facto* clause of the Wisconsin Constitution consistently with the *ex post facto* clause of the United States Constitution. *State v. Thiel*, 188 Wis. 2d 695, 699, 524 N.W.2d 641 (1994).

Deciding whether a law violates *ex post facto* is a twostep test designed to determine whether the statute is a criminal or civil action. *State v. Rachel*, 2002 WI 81, ¶¶ 32-33, 38, 254 Wis. 2d 215, 647 N.W.2d 762. First the court must "decide whether the legislature either expressly or impliedly indicated a preference that the statute in question be considered civil or criminal." *Id.* at ¶ 32. If the legislature

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> "(1r) If a court imposes a sentence or places a person on probation, the court shall impose a deoxyribonucleic acid analysis surcharge, calculated as follows: (a) For each conviction for a felony, \$250. (b) For each conviction for a misdemeanor, \$200."

intended the new punishment to be a criminal penalty, retrospective application of the penalty violates  $ex\ post\ facto$ . See *id.* at ¶¶ 32, 41.

Even if the legislature did not intend to create a new criminal penalty, the statute may still be unconstitutional if it is "so punitive either in purpose or effect as to transform what was clearly intended as a civil remedy into a criminal penalty." *Id.* at ¶ 33.

Here, retroactive application of the mandatory DNA surcharge has both a punitive intent and effect. Therefore, this Court should vacate the DNA surcharge in this case and hold that the surcharge violates *ex post facto* when applied to offenses committed before January 1, 2014.

A. The mandatory DNA surcharge is intended to impose a new criminal penalty.

The text of the statute as well as its legislative history demonstrates that the legislature intended the mandatory DNA surcharge as a criminal penalty. Therefore, retroactive imposition of the surcharge violates *ex post facto*. Determining legislative intent "is primarily a matter of statutory construction, and we must ask whether the legislature, in establishing the penalizing mechanism, indicated either expressly or impliedly a preference for one label or the other." *Id.* at ¶ 40 (internal quotations omitted). "[S]tatutory interpretation begins with the language of the statute." *State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cnty.*, 2004 WI 58, ¶ 45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. If the language is plain, the inquiry ends. *Id.* 

The plain text of the amended DNA surcharge statute reflects a punitive intent because the surcharge bears no relation to actual DNA expense incurred by the State. The surcharge imposes a flat fine: \$200 for every misdemeanor conviction and \$250 for every felony conviction. The

surcharge is required regardless of whether the offender provided a DNA sample in the past or whether any DNA testing was done in connection with the case. Thus, the surcharge is not being used simply to recover costs incurred in collecting or testing the defendant's DNA. Even if revenue generated from the DNA surcharge goes to the State Crime Laboratory, there is no connection between imposition of the surcharge and whether the defendant created any DNA cost.

The fact that this penalty is called a "DNA surcharge" does not control the outcome in this case. "A fine is a fine even if called a fee, and one basis for reclassifying a fee as a fine would be that it bore no relation to the cost for which the fee was ostensibly intended to compensate." *Mueller v. Raemisch*, 740 F.3d 1128, 1133 (7th Cir. 2014). That is precisely the case here: although labeled a "DNA surcharge," the assessment in this case bears no relation to the costs associated with collecting and testing the defendant's particular DNA sample.

Imposing the surcharge for *each conviction* demonstrates the punitive nature of the DNA surcharge. An offender does not provide a DNA sample for every conviction, so why must he or she pay a surcharge for each conviction? A person simultaneously convicted of five felonies would be required to pay \$1250, even if he or she provided a DNA sample and paid the surcharge in the past. The statute contemplates no limit to the number of surcharges that could be imposed.

Imposing a higher surcharge in felony cases also reflects a punitive intent. If the surcharge were actually intended to offset the costs of DNA testing, there would be no reason to impose a higher surcharge in felony cases than misdemeanor cases. Surely it does not cost the State more to test a felon's DNA than a misdemeanant's. Instead, the different treatment seems to reflect statutory intent to impose

a harsher penalty for a felony conviction simply because it is the more serious offense.

Placement of the DNA surcharge statute within the criminal sentencing statutes also reflects a legislative intent to impose a penalty. According to the Wisconsin Supreme Court: "statutory language is interpreted in the context in which it is used; not in isolation but as part of a whole; in relation to the language of surrounding or closely-related statutes; and reasonably, to avoid absurd or unreasonable results." *Kalal*, 271 Wis. 2d 633, ¶ 46. Here, the surcharge is situated squarely within the criminal sentencing statutes which discuss criminal penalties and their imposition. In contrast, court costs are collected under section 814.60, a chapter devoted to Court Costs, Fees, and Surcharges. Wis. Stat. ch. 814. This placement suggests that the legislature intended to impose a criminal penalty.

Even if this Court finds that the statutory text does not unambiguously reflect a punitive intent, the limited legislative history of the statute reflects that intent. Counsel has been able to identify only one item in the legislative record concerning amendments to the DNA surcharge: a memo from the Legislative Fiscal Bureau to the Joint Committee on Finance. (LFB, Memo, DNA Collection at Arrest and the DNA Analysis Surcharge, May 23, 2013).<sup>4</sup>

The memo outlines a legislative plan to vastly expand DNA collection in Wisconsin. Instead of taking DNA samples only after a felony conviction, the memo proposes (and the legislature adopted) taking DNA samples at arrest from all adults and juveniles arrested for a felony or specified misdemeanor offenses, and taking DNA samples after any felony or misdemeanor conviction. (Memo, 2, 3-4); Wis. Stat.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Available at http://legis.wisconsin.gov/lfb/publications/budget/2013-15%20budget/documents/budget%20papers/410.pdf (last visited Jan. 20, 2015).

§§ 165.76; 973.047.<sup>5</sup> The memo estimated that the surcharge change would provide over \$3.5 million in revenue for the 2014-15 fiscal year. (Memo, 2).

Although the DNA surcharge revenue will be used predominantly to fund the new DNA collection procedures, the surcharge remains a criminal penalty. The surcharge is imposed solely in criminal cases after criminal convictions. (Memo, 2). The proceeds are then sent to the State Crime Laboratory for "identifying, apprehending, arresting, and convicting criminal offenders and exonerating individuals wrongly suspected or accused of crime." (Memo at 8). The DNA surcharge is inextricably intertwined with the criminal justice system and is consequently a criminal cost.

Because the text of the statute and its legislative history reflect a punitive intent, this Court should find that the DNA surcharge in Mr. Elward's case violates *ex post facto*.

B. The DNA surcharge is so punitive that even if it was intended to be a civil assessment it is a criminal penalty.

Even if this Court finds that the legislature did not intend the new DNA surcharge to be a criminal penalty, it still violates *ex post facto* if it is "so punitive either in purpose or effect as to transform what was clearly intended as a civil remedy into a criminal penalty." *Rachel*, 254 Wis. 2d 215, ¶ 33. Here, the effect of a \$200 or \$250 DNA surcharge for every conviction, regardless of DNA cost, is so punitive that is has become a criminal penalty.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The requirement to submit a DNA sample upon arrest was subsequently scaled back by 2013 Wis. Act 214 to cases where the person is arrested for a "violent crime." Wis. Stat. § 165.76(gm). Notably, the DNA surcharge was not correspondingly scaled back. Thus, the State is collecting just as much money, but collecting fewer DNA samples.

The effect of the DNA surcharge is to impose a financial penalty; it is not merely "intended to compensate the state to compensate for the expense of maintaining" the State Crime Laboratory. As discussed above, the DNA surcharge is completely unrelated to the costs of DNA analysis. First, the surcharge is collected in every case, regardless of whether DNA is collected or analyzed. Section 973.046(1r) simply imposes a blanket rule to take the surcharge for every conviction. A defendant convicted of three felonies and two misdemeanors would be required to pay \$1150 under the "DNA surcharge," no matter how much or how little DNA analysis was done in the case.

Second, if the surcharge were actually intended to compensate the State for the costs of DNA testing, there would be no reason for distinguishing between felonies and misdemeanors. There is no rational basis to conclude that it costs more to process or analyze the DNA of a felon than that of a misdemeanant.

Third, the DNA surcharge cannot compensate for DNA cost in any misdemeanor case because the State is not yet collecting DNA samples from convicted misdemeanants. The State will not begin collecting DNA samples from convicted misdemeanants until April 1, 2015. 2013 Wis. Act 20, §§ 2356, 9426(1)(bm). In the present case, no DNA has been taken from Mr. Elward, yet he is still being required to pay a \$200 DNA surcharge that did not exist at the time he committed the underlying offense.

Fourth, there is no reason for a surcharge for each *conviction* if the surcharge is merely intended to recoup the costs of DNA analysis. Once a DNA sample has been taken, analyzed, and entered in the DNA databank, there is no DNA cost.

A constitutional civil penalty would be a one-time fee to cover the cost of DNA collection and analysis after

conviction. That was precisely the circumstance in South Carolina, where the Fourth Circuit upheld a DNA surcharge that was imposed upon defendants who supplied a DNA sample. In re DNA Ex Post Facto Issues, 561 F.3d 294 (4th Cir. 2009). There, the statute at issue read: "A person who is required to provide a sample pursuant to this article must pay a two hundred and fifty dollar processing fee which may not be waived by the court." *Id.* at 297. Thus, only persons who submitted a DNA sample had to pay a \$250 DNA surcharge. The defendants argued that the statute violated ex post facto because it went into effect after the conduct that resulted their convictions. *Id.* at 298. The appellate court upheld the surcharge, holding that the statute was clearly compensatory in nature because the DNA surcharge was directly related to actual DNA costs. Id. at 299. In contrast the surcharge in Wisconsin bears no relation to whether a DNA sample was taken from the defendant. Although it is called a "DNA surcharge," it is actually a per-conviction fine of \$200-\$250.

A series of other jurisdictions have concluded that similar financial penalties violate ex post facto and cannot be applied retroactively. United States v. Jones, 489 F.3d 243, 254 n.5 (6th Cir. 2007); (ex post facto clause prevented assessment" on convictions increased "special commission of crime) security; Eichelberger v. State, 916 S.W.2d 109, 112 (Ark. 1996); (same result for restitution); Matter of Appeal in Maricopa Cnty. Juvenile Action No. J-**92130**, 677 P.2d 943, 947 (Ariz. Ct. App. 1984) (restitution and "monetary assessment"); *People v. Batman*, 71 Cal. Rptr. 3d 591, 593-94 (2008) (DNA assessment); **People v. Stead**, 845 P.2d 1156, 1159 (Colo. 1993) ("drug offender surcharge"); *Cutwright v. State*, 934 So. 2d 667, 668 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2006) (court costs); *People v. Rayburn*, 630 N.E.2d 533, 538 (Ill. Ct. App. 1994) (fine for "Family Abuse Fund"); *State v. Corwin*, 616 N.W.2d 600, 602 (Iowa 2000) (restitution); *State v. Theriot*, 782 So. 2d 1078, 1085-87 (La. Ct. App. 2001) (change of fine from discretionary to

mandatory violated ex post facto clause); *Spielman v. State*, 471 A.2d 730, 735 (Md. 1984) (restitution); *People v. Slocum*, 539 N.W.2d 572, 574 (Mich Ct. App. 1995) (restitution); *State v. McMann*, 541 N.W.2d 418, 422 (Neb. Ct. App. 1995) (restitution); *People v. Stephen M.*, 824 N.Y.S.2d 757 (N.Y. Crim. Ct. 2006) (DNA fee); *Commonwealth v. Wall*, 867 A.2d 578, 580-81 (OWI assessment); *State v. Short*, 350 S.E.2d 1, 2-3 (W.Va. 1986) (restitution); *Loomer v. State*, 768 P.2d 1042, 1049 (Wyo. 1989) (costs).

Here, Mr. Elward is being required to pay a \$200 DNA surcharge despite the fact that he has not been required to submit a DNA sample, and the surcharge did not exist at the time his committed the offense. As applied to him, this surcharge is strictly punitive. Therefore, this Court should vacate the DNA surcharge and hold that imposing it in this case violates the *ex post facto* law clauses of the United States and Wisconsin constitutions.

#### **CONCLUSION**

For the reasons stated above, Mr. Elward asks that this Court issue an opinion reversing the decision of the circuit court and vacating the DNA surcharge in this case.