RECEIVED

02-06-2015

STATE OF WISCONSIN CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2014AP2569-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

GARETT T. ELWARD,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE OZAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE SANDY A. WILLIAMS, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JEFFREY A. SISLEY Assistant District Attorney State Bar#1000017

Ozaukee District Attorney's Office 1201 S. Spring Street Port Washington, WI 53074 (262)284-8385 (262)284-8365

TABLE OF CONENTS

AND PUBLICATION	
STATEMENT OF THE CASE	2
ARGUMENT	2

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Given the nature of the arguments raised in the brief of defendant-appellant Garrett T. Elward, the State exercises its option not to present a statement of the case. See Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.19(3)(a). The relevant facts and procedural history will be discussed in the argument section of this brief.

ARGUMENT

THE DNA SURCHARGE VIOLATES
THE EX POST FACTO CLAUSE
WHEN APPLIED TO DEFENDANTS
LIKE ELWARD WHOSE OFFENSE
DATE PRECEEDS THE
SURCHARGE'S JANUARY 1, 2014,
EFFECTIVE DATE AND WHO ARE
CONVICTED BEFORE THE APRIL
1, 2015, EFFECTIVE DATE FOR
COLLECTING DNA SAMPLES.

Elward argues that the DNA surcharge imposed on convicted misdemeanants by Wis. Stat. § 973.046(1r)(a) is an unconstitutional ex post facto law as applied to him. Although the State does not agree with all of Elward's analysis, it agrees that the ex post facto clause prohibits the imposition of the surcharge on defendants like Elward whose committed their offense before the January 1, 2014, effective date for the surcharge and who do not have to provide a DNA sample because they were convicted before April 1, 2015,

the effective date for collecting DNA samples from individuals convicted of a misdemeanor.

As the party challenging the statute, Elward "bears the burden of establishing a violation of the ex post facto clauses of the United States and Wisconsin Constitutions," State ex rel. Singh v. Kemper, 2014 WI App 43, ¶9, 353 Wis. 2d 520, 846 N.W.2d 820, and must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the statute is unconstitutional, see Appling v. Walker, 2014 WI 96, ¶17 n.21, __ Wis. 2d __, 853 N.W.2d 888 ("The burden of proof that challengers face, beyond a reasonable doubt, is the same in both facial and as applied constitutional challenges."). Under the narrow circumstances presented by this case, Elward has met that burden.

An ex post facto law is a law "which punishes as a crime an act previously committed, which was innocent when done; which makes more burdensome the punishment for a crime, after its commission, or which deprives one charged with crime of any defense available according to law at the time when the act was committed." *State v. Thiel*, 188 Wis. 2d 695, 703, 524 N.W.2d 641 (1994). Elward argues that applying Wis. Stat. § 973.046(1r) to him violates the ex post facto clauses because it imposes punishment that was not applicable at the time of the charged offense, July 25, 2013 (1:1).

The "threshold question," therefore, "is whether the [statute] is punitive." *City of South Milwaukee v. Kester*, 2013 WI App 50, ¶21, 347 Wis. 2d 334, 830 N.W.2d 710. At least four jurisdictions, including the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals, have held that a DNA fee or surcharge is not punitive and that imposing the fee on defendants who committed an offense prior to the

fee's effective date is not an ex post facto violation. See In re DNA Ex Post Facto Issues, 561 F.3d 294, 299-300 (4th Cir. 2009); People v. Higgins, 13 N.E.3d 169, ¶¶16-20 (Ill. App. Ct. June 19, 2014); Commonwealth v. Derk, 895 A.2d 622, 625-30 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2006); State v. Thompson, 223 P.3d 1165, 1171 (Wash. Ct. App. 2009).

However, this case presents a timing wrinkle not present in those cases. That is because the effective date of the new DNA surcharge on misdemeanants is January 1, 2014, see 2013 Wis. Act 20, § 9426(1)(am), but misdemeanants only provide DNA samples if convicted on or after April 1, 2015, see Wis. Stat. § 165.76(1)(as) (2013-14) ("A person shall provide a biological specimen to the state crime laboratories for deoxyribonucleic acid analysis if he or she ... [i]s or was found guilty of any misdemeanor on or after April 1, 2015"). That means that misdemeanor defendants whose offense date was prior to January 1, 2014, but who are convicted before April 1, 2015, have to pay a DNA surcharge even though they do not have to provide a biological sample for DNA analysis.

The State agrees with Elward that the Seventh Circuit's decision in *Mueller v. Raemisch*, 740 F.3d 1128 (7th Cir. 2014), in instructive. In *Mueller*, the court rejected an ex post facto challenge to Wisconsin's sex offender registration statute. One of the provisions at issue was the \$100 annual registration fee that the statute imposes on convicted sex offenders. *Id.* at 1130. The district court held that the fee was "a fine, which is a form of punishment and so cannot constitutionally be imposed on persons who committed their sex crimes before the fee provision was enacted." *Id.* at 1130.

The Seventh Circuit reversed. It agreed with the State that the fee was indeed a fee, not a fine. The court observed that "[b]y virtue of their sex offenses the plaintiffs have imposed on the State of Wisconsin the cost of obtaining and recording information about their whereabouts and other circumstances. The \$100 annual fee is imposed in virtue of that cost, though like most fees it doubtless bears only an approximate relation to the cost it is meant to offset." Id. at 1133. "A fine, in contrast, is a punishment for an unlawful act; it is a substitute deterrent for prison time and, like other punishments, a signal of social disapproval of unlawful behavior." *Id*. The court acknowledged, however, that "[l]abels don't control" and said that "one basis for reclassifying a fee as a fine would be that it bore no relation to the cost for which the fee was ostensibly intended to compensate." *Id*.

The latter statement is an apt characterization of the situation in which misdemeanor defendants such as Elward fall. For those defendants, the DNA surcharge bears no relation to the costs for which the surcharge is intended to compensate because those defendants do not create any DNA-related costs, as their DNA will not be collected or analyzed.

The State does not agree with Elward's argument that the legislature intended that the DNA surcharge be punishment or that the fact that imposing a separate surcharge on each conviction renders the surcharge punitive. However, for those misdemeanor defendants who challenge the surcharge on ex post facto grounds and who will not be providing DNA samples because they are convicted before April 1, 2015, the surcharge cannot be justified as a cost-recovery measure.

To summarize, the State's concession is limited to misdemeanor defendants who meet all of the following conditions: 1) they committed their offense prior to January 1, 2014; 2) they had a DNA surcharge imposed because they were sentenced after January 1, 2014; and 3) they do not have to provide a DNA sample because they were convicted prior to April 1, 2015. The State's concession does not apply to defendants who commit a misdemeanor offense after January 1, 2014, because the surcharge is not subject to an ex post facto challenge by person who commits an offense after the surcharge's effective date. The State's concession also does not apply misdemeanor defendants who are convicted on or after April 1, 2015, because those individuals will be required to provide a DNA sample and the surcharge compensates the State for the costs of collecting and analyzing the sample maintaining the DNA database.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, the court should reverse the order denying the motion to vacate the DNA surcharge in this case.